
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Monday, 12th February, 2018

Place
Diamond Room 1 - Council House

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 6)

a) To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 18th September 2017.

b) Matters arising.

4. Petition - Coventry City Council To Carry Out Air Quality/Pollution 
Surveys In and Around Tile Hill Village  (Pages 7 - 14)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

To consider a petition bearing 29 signatures, which has been submitted by 
Councillor Skinner, a Westwood Ward Councillor, who has been invited to the 
meeting for the consideration of this item along with the petition organiser.

5. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Martin Yardley, Executive Director, Place, Council House Coventry

Friday, 2 February 2018

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight Tel: 024 7683 3237  Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: Councillors R Ali (Deputy Cabinet Member) and K Caan (Cabinet 
Member)

By invitation Councillors M Lapsa (Shadow Cabinet Member)

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

Public Document Pack



Page 2

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Lara Knight 
Tel: 024 7683 3237  Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport held at 

2.00 pm on Monday, 18 September 2017

Present:
Members: Councillor K Caan (Cabinet Member)

Councillor M Lapsa (Shadow Cabinet Member)
Other Members Councillor L Kelly

Employees (by Directorate):
Place G Hood, L Knight

Apologies: Councillor R Ali 

Public Business

6. Declarations of Interest 

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests.

7. Minutes of Last Meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12th June 2017 were agreed and signed as a 
true record.

There were no matters arising.

8. Petition - Condition of Naul's Mill Park Pond / Boating Lake 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), 
which responded to a petition regarding the condition of the pond / boating lake at 
Naul’s Mill Park.

A petition bearing 222 signatures had been submitted by Councillor Kelly, a 
Sherbourne Ward Councillor, who attended the meeting along with Ms O’Hagan, 
the petition organiser.  The petitioners were concerned about the condition of the 
pond in Naul’s Mill Park, which had been left empty for 4 summers, and requested 
that the Council take immediate steps to enable the pond to be filled on a 
temporary basis and undertake to work with other organisations and the 
community to obtain funding to redevelop the pond in a sustainable and 
environmentally friendly manner.

The report indicated that in 1898 the Corporation had acquired the land and in the 
late 1900’s the area was landscaped and opened as a public park in1909.  The 
park currently contained a range of features including amenity grassland, a good 
canopy of trees of various ages, shrub beds, flower beds and a children’s play 
area.  In addition a distinctive feature was the large Edwardian model boating lake 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

at the parks’ southern end.  The lake was roughly 3,000 square metres in area, 
measuring 100m long and 40m wide, varying in depth from 0.6m to 1.2m.  The 
lake was fed by a stream which normally ran through the park in a culvert, but 
could be diverted to fill the pond.

Although originally left full throughout the year, over the past 10 years, the lake 
had been filled in March and drained at the end of November.  This was to prevent 
people ice-skating or otherwise putting themselves at risk should the water freeze 
over during the winter.

The Cabinet Member noted that the lake was lined with concrete slabs with the 
joints between them sealed with a flexible bitumen jointing compound.  The 
bitumen had perished over time and caused the pool to leak.  In addition, the slabs 
have become unstable and cracked.   By 2012, the lake had begun to lose water 
to such an extent that the stream needed to be permanently diverted to keep the 
lake full.  In 2012/13 the lake was drained and not refilled due to concerns with the 
effects that the leaking water may be having downstream / below ground.  
However, during 2017, the lake was refilled to assess the extent of the leaks.  

The Cabinet Member was advised that there was also an issue with blanketweed 
when the lake was filled, which used to be controlled with chemicals.  However, 
with the constant throughput of water and the leak previously mentioned, any 
algaecides would be diluted and become ineffective and there were also concerns 
in relation to the environment to be considered.

The report set out 8 various options which varied from restoring the lake to its 
original condition to doing nothing.  It was reported that there were no existing 
funds for any of the options identified although Section 106 funds associated with 
a housing development on a neighbouring site may become available at some 
point.  Funding could however be obtained from grants such as WREN, BIFFA or 
Veolia.  In addition, organisations such as the Heritage Lottery Fund or Esmee 
Fairburn Trust may offer grants to fund its repair / restoration.

It was acknowledged that future options for the pool should be explored and it was 
recommended that consultation be undertaken with the Friends of Naul’s Mill Park, 
Ward councillors, users of the park and local residents to identify a preferred 
option and to enable project costs to be calculated.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport:-

1. Approve that consultation is held with the Friends of Naul’s Mill 
Park, Ward councillors, users of Naul’s Mill Park and local 
residents to identify what is the preferred future of the pool.

2. Approve that following the consultation exercise, a project be 
worked up that reflects the results and includes the cost for the 
preferred option, with this then being the subject of a further 
Cabinet Member report.

3. Note that the lake is currently being filled.

Page 4



– 3 –

9. Petition - Grading of Naul's Mill Park 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), 
which responded to a petition regarding the grading of Naul’s Mill Park.

A petition bearing 9 signatures had been submitted by Councillor Kelly, a 
Sherbourne Ward Councillor, who attended the meeting along with Ms Hensman, 
the petition organiser.  The petitioners were concerned about the classification of 
Naul’s Mill Park as a local park and requested that the Council take steps to 
upgrade the park and work with other organisations and the community to obtain 
funding to develop the park in a sustainable and environmentally friendly manner 
for the benefit of the area and the city as a whole.

The report indicated that Naul’s Mill Park was classified as a ‘Neighbourhood’ Park 
within the Council’s Green Space Strategy.  This designation was generally 
assigned based on the importance or significance of the green space based on 
quality assessment and the distance people travel to attend the site.  The report 
further indicated that this assessment had little or no real bearing on the sites 
propensity to attract external funding.

It was recognised that the park contained a range of features including amenity 
grassland, a god canopy of trees of various ages, shrub beds, flower beds and a 
children’s play area.  In addition, a distinctive feature contained in the park was a 
large Edwardian model boating lake at the parks southern end.  Due to persistent 
leaks and issues with blanket weed, the lake was drained several years ago and 
kept dry.  However, in recent months, the lake had been refilled to assess its 
condition.

The report indicated that currently the park was primarily used by local residents 
and was popular with all ages.  Its main uses included dog walking, informal 
recreation, children’s play and picnics, particularly through the summer.  
Occasional events had also been held in the park in the recent past, including 
bands in the park and holiday activities run by the Council’s park ranger service.  It 
was noted that the park may also benefit from being included in the current Public 
Health walk project which was out to tender.

The Cabinet Member was advised that a community group ‘the Friends of Naul’s 
Mill Park’ was established in 2015.  The group cared for the park and took an 
active interest in its maintenance and management and undertook tasks such as 
litter clearing and improving shrub and flower beds.  Overall management of the 
park remained with the Council’s Greenspace Service.  It was noted that the 
funding for the Service was reduced last year by 25%, amounting to £1m.  As a 
consequence, staffing numbers were reduced across all levels and equipment 
numbers reduced accordingly.  Hours of operation were reviewed along with 
reductions in grounds and infrastructural maintenance standards, for example, 
grass cutting frequency was reduced from 16 to 8 times a year.  It was 
acknowledged that this reduction clearly restricts the Council’s ability to increase 
maintenance frequencies.

Page 5



– 4 –

However, in the past few years, the Council had invested funding into Naul’s Mill 
Park to enable a range of improvements to be undertaken outside of the routine 
maintenance programmes.  This has included footpath repairs, the creation of a 
new rose bed in the ornamental area, the installation of a noticeboard, restoration 
of ornamental beds and associated bulb planting, various tree works, replacement 
of fencing and gates and replacement play equipment.

It was proposed that, as most external funding could only be accessed by 
voluntary groups, the Greenspace Officers continue to support and facilitate the 
Friends Group, assisting them in making applications to appropriate external 
funding agencies to help improve the park.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport approves 
that:

1. Officers continue their efforts to explore all options to exploit 
external funding opportunities and work with the Friends of Naul’s 
Mill Park and other voluntary groups and organisations to develop 
the site and improve maintenance standards.

2. Officers continue to support the Friends of Naul’s Mill Park in the 
identification and application of external funding opportunities to 
improve the park.

10. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of public business.

(Meeting closed at 2.55 pm)

Page 6



 Public report
Cabinet Member 

12th February 2018
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport – Councillor K Caan

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
Woodlands

Title:
Petition – Coventry City Council to carry out Air Quality/Pollution Surveys in and around Tile Hill 
Village

Is this a key decision?

No 

Executive Summary:

This report responds to a petition containing 29 signatures which was submitted to Coventry City 
Council. The petition is supported by Councillor Skinner and requests that the Council undertake 
air quality surveys in and around Tile Hill Village and for proposed developments not to go ahead 
should air pollution prove to be above acceptable levels

The Petition reads:-

“In view of the large housing developments that have taken place over the years in and around 
Tile Hill Village and, in view of the proposed large new housing developments planned for 
Westwood Heath Road, Cromwell Lane and Burton Green and the planned heavy works 
connected with HS2 over the next few years, it is important that current air quality be measured 
now and then consistently over the next 5 - 10 years. If air current quality proves above 
acceptable levels and a danger to public health, the above mentioned developments should not 
go ahead until such time as air quality improves and can be maintained - perhaps in 2040 when 
all cars will be electric!

I represent Tile Hill Village Residents' Group and we would like the air quality survey to 
commence no later than September 2017 to establish current air quality and for regular 
measurements to be taken thereafter. Safe air quality is a legal requirement and therefore should 
form part of any new housing development. Excessive traffic speeds and a significant increase in 
traffic levels over the years, proven by surveys, in and around Tile Hill Village may be having a 
serious effect on our air quality.

Air quality is a hot topic at the moment and is proven to be responsible for the deaths of 
thousands of people each year, and increases the discomfort and limits the mobility of those 
already suffering from breathing disorders.” 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport is asked to: 

1. Note the specific policy on air quality contained within the newly adopted Local Plan 
(Policy EM7) and the monitoring framework associated with that Plan (extract at Appendix 
1).

2. Support officers in ensuring that areas around Tile Hill Village are included as part of the 
next annual review programme of air quality monitoring stations. It is a requirement that 
this review should take a city-wide approach.

3. Support officers to continue their efforts to develop a Local Plan for Air Quality according 
to DEFRA requirements (The Air Quality Plan), that seeks to reduce levels of NO2 
pollutants, where there are current exceedances, in the City in the shortest possible time 
frame.  

List of Appendices included:

N/A

Other useful background papers:

The Local Plan was adopted at Council on the 5th December 2017. Please see Air Quality Policy 
EM7 on page 161
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/25899/final_local_plan_december_2017

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 8

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/25899/final_local_plan_december_2017


3

Report title:  Petition – Coventry City Council to carry out Air Quality/Pollution Surveys in 
and around Tile Hill Village

1. Context (or background)

1.1. A petition with 29 signatures and support by Cllr Skinner has been received.  The petition 
requests that the Council undertake air quality surveys in and around Tile Hill Village, and 
for proposed developments not to go ahead should air pollution prove to be above 
acceptable levels.

1.2. Coventry City Council recognises the impact of air pollution on health and wellbeing and 
is committed to taking action to improve air quality in the City. It is recognised that air 
pollution can have effects on health throughout life, contributing to the development or 
exacerbation of a range of health conditions, as well as to mortality at a population level. 
In this respect matters of health and wellbeing (including air quality) form an integral part 
of a range of council Plans and strategies. This includes the Council’s new Local Plan. 

1.3. Local Plan 2017 and Supplementary Planning Documents:

1.3.1. At its meeting on the 5th December 2017, the Council adopted a new Local Plan. This 
Local Plan came into effect on the following day and now forms the basis for determining 
planning applications. Within the Plan are a range of policies including site allocations and 
a new policy specifically on air quality (Policy EM7). In addition, the Council are working 
on developing a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on air quality. This will provide 
technical guidance and support for those submitting planning applications. Together the 
new Local Plan and SPD will provide a platform for improving the city’s air quality and 
reduce levels of pollutants across the city as a whole. 

1.3.2. The new Local Plan also contains a monitoring commitment to ensure ongoing monitoring 
of air quality across the city with an overarching aim of removing parts of the city from the 
current AQMA designation. These matters were considered during the Local Plans public 
examination and summarised by the Inspector in her final report (Para 172-175).  

1.3.3. At the planning application stage, all air quality assessments for planned developments in 
Coventry are reviewed by the Environmental Protection Team at Coventry City Council. 
Should development have a detrimental impact on air quality, developers are required to 
establish mitigation measures as appropriate. Cumulative impact on air quality are also 
required to be considered by developers in their Air Quality Assessments. As referenced 
above a Supplementary Planning Document on Air Quality is being developed to support 
the Air Quality Policy (EM7) this will provide further technical guidance and information 
that will guide developers on ways to reduce the impacts on air quality and generate 
improvements for local communities. Matters of air quality are also highlighted as part of 
the Councils Health Impact Assessment requirements (Policy HW1 of the new Local 
Plan).

1.4. Air Quality Management Areas, and Environmental Health:

1.4.1. The importance of improving air quality was recognised within the Local Plan in response 
to the whole city being designated an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2009. This 
designation primarily relates to the level of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and nitric oxide (NO), 
which combined, are referred to nitrogen oxides (NOx), within specific parts of the city. 
Exceedance of NOx in Coventry only generally occurs close to the busy arterial roads 
with junctions i.e. Foleshill Road, Stoney Stanton Road and Holyhead Road. The majority 
of the city’s, urban areas though are situated away from busy roads and do not exceed 

Page 9



4

the NOx target level. The city wide designation however ensures that the worst affected 
stretches of road are not tackled in isolation and helps avoid silo investment which could 
result in problems being moved from one place to another.

1.4.2. As part of the AQMA designation the area around Tile Hill village was, at that time, not 
deemed of sufficient concern to justify regular monitoring. Although there have been 
higher levels of development in this area over the last decade, much of this development 
has focused on the Bannerbrook site (former Massey Ferguson factories) and so reflects 
a change in land use from industrial to residential. It is also acknowledged though that the 
construction of the railway fly-over and expansion of the Tile Hill Railway Station Park and 
Ride facility has added additional highway pressure to the area. Notwithstanding, the 
overriding characteristics of the area do not raise immediate concerns around the risk of 
excessive levels of poor air quality. 

1.4.3. The city’s air quality monitoring stations and information relating to them can be found via 
the following link – https://goo.gl/Z7OGFw. This shows that monitoring for NO2 has been 
undertaken along the A45 at the Broad Lane junction (began April 2015), with levels being 
shown to be below the national mean annual objective (of 40 microgrammes/m3). As 
mentioned above there is currently no other monitoring in the Tile Hill area.

1.5. Local Plan for Air Quality:

1.5.1. The Council has been given the opportunity by DEFRA to prepare a ‘Local Plan for Air 
Quality’. Despite sharing the same name as the planning document it is a very different 
Plan and will not form a material consideration in planning terms. To avoid confusion, and 
for the purposes of this report, it will be referenced from here on as the ‘Air Quality Plan’. 

1.5.2. The primary focus of the Air Quality Plan will look to reduce existing levels of NO2 at a 
number of hotspots around the City in the shortest time possible. Actions arising from the 
Air Quality Plan are likely to focus on sites in and around the city centre. 

1.5.3. Production and implementation of the plan will involve partnership working across all parts 
of the Council, its Warwickshire neighbours and other key partners in the City. A range of 
options which support the reduction of air pollution will be considered, including traffic and 
sustainable infrastructure improvements, low emission technologies, and behaviour 
change interventions targeted at reducing car usage. This plan will complement existing 
activities in the City which support the reduction of air pollution, including transport 
infrastructure improvements, Park and Ride schemes, improving the cycling 
infrastructure, railway station improvements and a range of other innovative transport 
projects. The Plan will also support modelling of air quality and mitigation opportunities to 
deliver long term air quality improvements across the city. 

1.5.4. The Coventry and Warwickshire Air Quality Alliance offers a prime example of this 
collaborative working. Since 2015, Coventry City Council has been working in partnership 
with colleagues in Warwickshire through the Coventry and Warwickshire Air Quality 
Alliance, to share ideas and collaborate on initiatives to improve air quality. The Alliance 
brings together officers from Planning, Transport, Environmental Health and Public 
Health. Last year saw the launch of “Choose How you Move” 
(www.coventry.gov.uk/activetravel) a collaborative active travel campaign across the sub-
region.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. Matters relating to air quality and new development have recently been considered 
through the development of the Council’s new Local Plan. This resulted in Policy EM7 and 

Page 10

https://goo.gl/Z7OGFw
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/activetravel


5

the Plan as a whole being found sound and legally compliant following a period of public 
examination. Following adoption by Council on the 5th December 2017, the Plan will now 
be subject to ongoing monitoring and assessment. As adopted Council policy this is the 
method by which all future development in the City will be assessed, including any impact 
that this may have on air quality.

2.2. To not assess future development using the adopted Local Plan and other Council 
policies would leave decisions open to legal challenge. In addition to potential significant 
financial loss, a successful challenge may also remove any conditions placed upon a 
developer by the City Council, including measures to mitigate any adverse effect on air 
quality.

2.3. However, given the concern expressed by the petitioners. It is proposed to include the 
areas of recent development in and around Tile Hill village for consideration in the next 
round of air quality monitoring. Noting that at present this area shows no indicators as an 
area of poor air quality.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. The Local Plan was subject to numerous rounds of consultation over the last 4 years. This 
included detailed references to the new Air Quality policy (EM7). During the course of 
consultation, the numbers of responses relating to specific matters of air Quality were 
limited and as a result the only changes made to the policy and its supporting text were to 
add cross-references to the West Midlands Metropolitan Transport Emissions Framework.

3.2. At this time there has been no consultation on the Air Quality Plan.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. The Local Plan was adopted by Council on the 5th December 2017 and came into effect 
the following day. The Air Quality Plan will be developed over the course of 2018. This will 
relate, in part at least, to the annual review programme of air quality monitoring stations, 
which is due to be considered from April 2018.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1. Financial implications

A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will need to be commissioned at a cost of 
around £6k, which can be managed within existing resources. Officers are also exploring 
opportunities to work jointly with Warwickshire to share the cost and delivery of the 
document.

DEFRA have allocated resources to help pay for traffic surveys needed to build the air 
quality model for the ‘Local Plan for Air Quality’. There will be no further cost associated 
with the ongoing monitoring work as this will be absorbed through existing budgets. There 
may be a cost of providing further monitoring stations and equipment. There is no budget 
to deliver additional monitoring stations at this time, so new equipment would require new 
budget, grant funding or developer contributions.

5.2. Legal implications

There are no legal implications associated with the recommendations outlined in this 
paper. 

Page 11



6

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

The recommendation of this report will help contribute to the council's core aims of 
improving the health and wellbeing of Coventry citizens.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

Risk will be managed through the existing Place directorate risk profile and continued 
monitoring of the Local Plan.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

None

6.4. Equalities / EIA 

A Full EIA was undertaken for the Local Plan. No Equality Impact Assessments have 
been undertaken related specifically to this petition though. 

6.5. Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

The continued monitoring and management of air quality issues are expected to realise 
an improvement in air quality across the city, with a specific focus on known hotspots. 

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

None are expected. However the City Council continues to work collaboratively with 
neighbouring councils and other partners through the Coventry and Warwickshire Air 
Quality Alliance, to help manage and monitor all matters of air quality.

Page 12



7

Report author(s):

Name and job title: 
Nadia Inglis, Consultant in Public Health, Coventry City Council
Neil Chaplin, Environmental Protection, Coventry City Council
Mark Andrews, Planning and Housing Policy Manager, Coventry City Council

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 1424
Email: neil.chaplin@coventry.gov.uk 

Tel 024 7683 4295
Email: Mark.andrews@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Tracy Miller Head of 

Planning and 
Regulation

Place 29/01/2018 31/01/18

Cath Crosby Lead 
Accountant

Place 23/01/18 25/01/18

Sarah Harriott Legal 
Services,
Senior Legal 
Officer

Place 31/08/2017 25/01/18

Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator

Place 23/01/18 21/01/18

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and Members)
Andrew Walster Assistant 

Director 
(Streetscene 
and 
Regulatory 
Services)

Place 23/01/18 01/02/18

Liz Gaulton Acting Director 
of Public 
Health

People 19/01/18 19/01/18

Councillor C Caan Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Health 
and Sport

- 01/02/18 02/02/18

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 13

mailto:neil.chaplin@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.andrews@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Petition - Coventry City Council To Carry Out Air Quality/Pollution Surveys In and Around Tile Hill Village

